ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

SEP 18 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County

Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LAMONT ANTONIO SAMUEL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001342

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. PACHAK
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred and violated Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975), by not allowing appellant to voluntarily and intelligently represent himself?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of murder after a jury trial held before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, on June 10, 2013, in Orangeburg County. A sentence of fifty (50) years was imposed. Margaret Hinds, Esquire, and Doug Mellard, Esquire, represented appellant. Don Sorenson, Esquire, was the solicitor.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred and violated *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975), by not allowing appellant to voluntarily and intelligently represent himself.

Trial in this case initially started on May 13, 2013. It was continued to June 10, 2013. The May 13 transcript was made a part of the record and it is that transcript that deals with the Faretta issue. Unless otherwise noted, the transcript page numbers will be from the May transcript.

Defense counsel informed the trial court that appellant wished to represent himself. The courtroom was cleared. (R. p. 4, lines 11 – 23). Appellant explained that he had been in jail for fourteen months, he was innocent, and he did not think his attorneys were working for his best interests. He told the court he graduated high school with a 4.0 in honors. (R. p. 9, line 4 – p. 11, line 18; R. p. 13, line 4 – p. 15, line 10; R. p. 16, lines 23 – 25).

Appellant said he was aware of the charges against him and the possible penalties. He was twenty-one years old and graduated high school in 2010. (R. p. 31, lines 9 – 25). He had never been treated for alcohol, drug, or substance abuse. He did not have any mental health challenges or emotional health challenges. He had no drugs, alcohol, or medicine in the last 72 hours. He had been studying law with a book called Criminal Law Handbook. Carl Grant, Esquire, told appellant's mother about the book and she got it for him. Appellant had been reading up on trial procedures and self-representation. He knew the elements of murder. He knew if he represented himself, he would have to try his own case and the judge could not advise him on any of the rules of evidence. He was familiar with the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. He was familiar with the rule against hearsay and various motions that could be made before and during trial. He knew he had the right to testify or not to testify. (R. p. 33, line 18 – p. 40, line 5). He was aware that the

State had the burden to prove him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. If he were to choose not to testify, he was aware the jury could not discuss that and could not hold it against him. (R. p. 40, line 25 – p. 41, line 24).

The trial judge then told appellant that an attorney could help him with the rules of evidence, the rules of criminal procedure and presenting defenses. She said he would be better defended by a trained lawyer than he could be by himself. She said she thought it was unwise for him to represent himself. Appellant said he still wanted to represent himself. She then told him that she was concerned that he was not sufficiently familiar with the law, the court procedure, and the rules of evidence to represent himself. She strongly urged him not to represent himself. She said she would genuinely worry about him if he represented himself. (R. p. 42, line 15 – p. 44, line 4).

Appellant said it was still his desire to represent himself and waive his right to counsel. This decision was entirely voluntary on his part. (R. p. 44, lines 6 – 20). Later, appellant was asked if he understood the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all. Appellant explained the theory. (R. p. 48, line 22 – p. 49, line 5). The trial court told appellant that he was bright enough and that the constitution says he's entitled to represent himself. But then said, "I don't want you to represent yourself, but I can't violate the law." (R. p. 50, lines 6 – 9). She admitted, "You don't have a problem that I'm aware of that I can use, in all candor, to keep you from representing yourself." (R. p. 53, lines 15 – 17).

Appellant had mentioned Carl Grant, Esquire, earlier in that he told appellant's mother about a criminal law book to get. He also mentioned that his mother had paid Mr. Grant to come in and educate him. The trial judge said she was going to get Carl Grant over to the courthouse to question him. (R. p. 54, line 21 - p. 55, line 21). When Carl Grant was contacted by phone, he said

he did not represent appellant. He talked to the mother, but he had not been paid and did not represent appellant. (R. p. 59, lines 9 – 13).

When Mr. Grant got to the courthouse, he was put under oath. He again said he did not represent appellant. He said he talked to appellant's mother about representing appellant, but never got a retainer. (R. p. 65, line 20 – p. 68, line 9).

After Mr. Grant was excused, appellant said concerning self-representation, "I know I'm – I know what kind of mistake I could make. I still would like to – if you can, I still would like to go with that right." (R. p. 70, lines 22 – 25).

The trial judge took a break to do some research. She came back and started to rule. She characterized appellant's testimony and Mr. Grant's testimony. Appellant asked to say something and she would not let him. (R. p. 71, line 3 – p. 73, line 20). She cited Gardner v. State, 351 S.C. 407, 570 S.E.2d 184 (2002) and said appellant was trying to "manipulate" the proceedings and that he was not allowed to "disrupt" the proceedings. She said appellant was not showing candor toward the tribunal. Then, she said she wanted and sought the information regarding Mr. Grant because she wanted to be assured that there was not a representation there.¹ She went on to rule that the "reason that I am disallowing your self-representation is because it is impossible for me to try a case if I do not have candor from those who are making representations to the court." (R. p. 71, line 3 – p. 75, line 14).

¹ The trial judge already knew that Mr. Grant said over the phone that he was not representing appellant. (R. p. 59, lines 9 – 13). She also acknowledged that appellant did not say Mr. Grant represented him when she spoke to Mr. Grant in the courtroom. (R. p. 63, lines 11 – 13).

The trial judge erred in denying appellant his Sixth Amendment right to self-representation. But, she was right when she said he had an appellate issue. (R. p. 76, line 18). The trial judge used the wrong standard under Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975) to determine if appellant was validly waiving counsel so that he could represent himself. To allow a valid waiver of counsel, a trial judge has to determine if the waiver is done knowingly and intelligently and that the defendant was warned of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. at 835, 95 S.Ct. at 2541. The “ultimate test is not the trial judge’s advice, but rather the defendant’s understanding.” Wroten v. State, 301 S.C. 293, 391 S.E.2d 575 (1990) citing Fitzpatrick v. Wainwright, 800 F.2d 1057 (11th Cir. 1986). The court in Wroten went on to say the following:

If the record demonstrates the defendant’s decision to represent himself was made with an understanding of the risks of self-representation, the requirements of a voluntary waiver will be satisfied. (citations omitted)

Also, the fact that a defendant requests standby counsel does not render the waiver of counsel invalid. State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. 117, 492 S.E.2d 97 (1997). The Supreme Court of the United States noted the following in Faretta:

The language and spirit of the Sixth Amendment contemplate that counsel, like the other defense tools guaranteed by the Amendment, shall be an aid to a willing defendant – not an organ of the State interposed between an unwilling defendant and his right to defend himself personally. To thrust counsel upon the accused, against his considered wish, thus violates the logic of the Amendment. In such a case, counsel is not an assistant, but a master, and the right to make a defense is stripped of the personal character upon which the Amendment insists.