**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**RECEIVED**

OCT 06 2014

**Appeal from Orangeburg County  
Diane Schafer Goodstein., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-001342**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,**

**RESPONDENT,**

**V.**

**LAMONT ANTONIO SAMUEL,**

**APPELLANT.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 4806**

**P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. The trial judge properly denied Appellant’s motion to appear *pro se* at trial because the record supports her finding that he dishonestly responded to her questions about how he had acquired knowledge of trial court procedures, and his responses demonstrated an inability or unwillingness on his part to comply with an indispensable requirement for our judicial system to function. His untruthfulness likewise undermined confidence in the credibility of the answers that he gave to the other questions asked of him, it created a concern that he would be dishonest with the trial judge and opposing counsel at trial and it indicated that, for undisclosed reasons, he wished to improperly wrest control of the conduct of his trial from the trial judge and manipulate the proceedings.**

Notwithstanding Appellant’s arguments to the contrary, Respondent submits that the trial judge properly denied Appellant’s motion to appear *pro se* at trial because the record supports her finding that he dishonestly responded to her questions about how he had acquired knowledge of trial court procedures, and his responses demonstrated an inability or unwillingness on his part to comply with an indispensable requirement for our judicial system to function. His untruthfulness likewise undermined confidence in the credibility of the answers that he gave to the other questions asked of him, it created a concern that he would be dishonest with the trial judge and opposing counsel at trial and it indicated that, for undisclosed reasons, he wished to improperly wrest control of the conduct of his trial from the trial judge and manipulate the proceedings.

### **A. Events in the trial court.**

#### **1. The May 13, 2013 hearing on Appellant’s motion to appear *pro se*.**

---

<sup>2</sup> Because the trial was in June, Respondent has referred to the record of those proceedings as “Tr. “ and the May 2013 proceedings are referred to as “May Tr.”

When the case was initially called for trial, Appellant's counsel informed the trial judge that Appellant wanted to proceed *pro se* at trial. The trial judge immediately cleared the courtroom of everyone except for Appellant, his trial counsel, the court reporter, the judge, her law clerk and courtroom security. The trial judge further ordered that the proceedings were being conducted under seal. **R. p. 4, line 11 – p. 9, line 3.**<sup>3</sup>

The trial judge questioned Appellant at the ensuing *ex parte in camera* hearing. When asked about the basis for his concern, Appellant explained that he had been in jail for fourteen months even though he was innocent, and that he did not think his attorneys were working for his best interests. He based this upon counsel's refusal to let him provide the Assistant Solicitor with letters that his co-defendant, Alan Fields, had written him, which he contended proved his innocence and their request to review anything before he gave it to the prosecution. He claimed that "[j]ust as well as [counsel has been] interviewing me, I [have] been interviewing them." He also complained because it appeared that counsel had met with the Assistant Solicitor immediately before meeting with him, on those occasions when he met with them. **R. p. 9, line 4 - p. 11, line 3; p. 14, line 20 – p. 15, line 10.**

He further contended that Ms. Hinds did not give him "the correct answer I was looking for," when he asked her what her interest in the case was because counsel had apparently said something about trying to convince jurors that he was only guilty of a lesser charge. He also claimed that he was the reason that Fields was supposed to plead guilty in this case. **R. p. 11, lines 3-18; p. 13, line 10 – p. 14, line 15.**

---

<sup>3</sup> Therefore, this case presents a somewhat unusual situation because Appellant is complaining of alleged error by the trial judge, where her ruling prevented the State from having any opportunity to correct the purported error. As will be shown, however, the trial judge did not abuse her discretion.

Then, in response to the trial judge's questions, he stated that he was twenty-one years old and that he graduated high school "with a 4.0 in Honors classes." Although the trial judge stated that he "c[a]me across as exceptionally bright," she stated that she had been a judge for almost sixteen years; that she did not have any "dog in the fight;" and that her only concern was to ensure that justice was done. Also, she was going to discuss some matters that might be frustrating to him. **R. p. 16, line 20 – p. 19, line 4.**

She began by acknowledging that the fourteen month delay between arrest and trial was too long, and that this delay causes frustration, which then erodes the relationship between a defendant and his attorneys. However, she explained that counsel were not the source of the delay. She further explained that it is "incredibly difficult" to be a public defender because the lawyer wants "to protect [Appellant]" but the law also requires them to make sure that Appellant understands the "worst possible scenario," even if the lawyers do not believe that this worst case scenario is true. Included in their responsibility to properly represent Appellant was their communications with the prosecutor before talking to him. Appellant indicated that he understood this explanation. **R. p. 19, line 6 – p. 22, line 8.**

The trial judge also explained that counsel did not want him to speak with Assistant Solicitor Sorenson. In her estimation, "[t]hat is the absolute wors[t] thing you could do is to talk to Mr. Sorenson. It doesn't matter what you have" because Mr. Sorenson was "committed to prosecuting" Appellant and he would then be able to "spend his whole time explaining why that doesn't mean a thing." If counsel thinks that the material is beneficial to Appellant's defense and it does not have to be disclosed in discovery, counsel could use this information at trial. **R. p. 22, line 9 – p. 23, line 12.**

The trial judge stated that she had known lead counsel, Ms. Hinds, since becoming a judge and that the trial judge had “never known [Ms. Hinds] not to care deeply about her clients. I have always known her to have to give them everything they need to know, which is the absolute worst scenario, because otherwise she's not doing what she's supposed to do.” The trial judge described Ms. Hinds as a “terrific lawyer.” Again, Appellant indicated that he understood. **R. p. 23, line 15- p. 24, line 4.**

At that point, the trial judge told Appellant that it was appropriate to be concerned about the case, but she asked him to “give some thought” to what she had told him. She further told him that he had a constitutional right to represent himself. While it “scares me to death for you” to do so, she would respect his exercise of the right if he chose to do so. Appellant again indicated that he understood. **R. p. 24, line 13 – p. 25, line 8.**

The trial judge further explained that he lacked the same expertise and training to be a lawyer that his attorneys had and that she did not want him to represent himself. However, she stated that “I respect you, and I respect, most of all, our constitution that says you have that right.” Appellant indicated that he wanted to represent himself and that he was firm in his decision. So, the trial judge stated that if she found that he was capable of representing himself, after explaining the colloquy that was about to happen, then she would allow him to do so. Again, Appellant indicated that he understood what she had told him. **R. p. 25, line 9 – p. 29, line 14.**

Once Appellant was finally sworn, the trial judge began her colloquy with him. In response to her questioning, Appellant swore that everything he had previously told her up to that point “[had] been the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth” and that he did not

“want to change or alter anything” he had told her. The trial judge explained the definition of *pro se*. Reading from a form, she told him that the United States Supreme Court has held that the Sixth Amendment, which gives defendants the right to counsel, merely required that a defendant “be advised of the nature of the charges[,] ...[of the] right to be counseled regarding that representation and the range of the allowable punishment.” **R. p. 29, line 21 – p. 31, line 7.**

In response to further questioning, Appellant swore that he was charged with murder; that he understood that murder carried a minimum sentence of thirty years imprisonment and “up to life in prison without the possibility of parole;” that he was twenty-one years old; that he had graduated high school, in 2010, “with a 4.0 ... [i]n all Honors class;” and, that he had been preparing to go into the military when arrested. He claimed that “before basic training they [were] trying to see if I wanted to go to school first. I was telling them I wanted to go straight into the military, and they [were] telling me you doing pretty good with interviews. We think that you should go to school and try to be a recruit counselor.” At one point, he swore that he was helping to recruit people “without pay through the military.” Yet, he stated at another point that he was being paid.<sup>4</sup> **R. p. 31, line 9 – p. 33, line 17.**

Appellant further swore that he had never been treated in alcohol, drug or other substance abuse problems; that he had never “received any counseling or any treatment at all for any mental health challenges or emotional challenges;” and that he had not taken any medicine, drugs or alcohol in the seventy-two hours before the plea. Likewise, he swore that he was unaware of “any physical or emotional or nervous problems or issues or challenges” that might keep him from understanding what he was doing; and that he had never “been examined by any

---

<sup>4</sup> Compare **R. p. 32, lines 11-17** with **R. p. 32, line 25 – p. 33, line 12.**

doctor or other health care professional to determine [his] mental competency to stand trial.” R.  
p. 33, line 18 – p. 34, line 19.

The trial judge and Appellant then had the following exchange, which is important to the issue before this Court:

THE COURT: Okay. Have you ever studied law?

MR. SAMUEL: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: All right. Tell me about that?

MR. SAMUEL: I studied a little bit of law during the -- a law book I used during the course of -- to look at the procedure to stand trial, self-representation. And I look at all the rules and regulations [that are] supposed to be appropriate while I'm standing trial. I know --

THE COURT: And tell me where you got those books?

MR. SAMUEL: I got that book through the mail at the jailhouse.

THE COURT: What ... is the name of the book?

MR. SAMUEL: It's called Criminal Law Handbook.

THE COURT: All right. Where did it come from?

MR. SAMUEL: I can't -- All I know I got it through the mail.

THE COURT: Okay. And did somebody help you find that or did you order it or how did you find it?

MR. SAMUEL: Yes. **Mr. Carl Grant told my mama.**

THE COURT: Carl Grant. Okay, and your mother helped you get it?

MR. SAMUEL: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Got it. All right. And you looked at that book?

MR. SAMUEL: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And how much of that book have you read?

MR. SAMUEL: I read, basically, the trial procedures.

THE COURT: Okay. Yes.

MR. SAMUEL: I read -- if you got documents and everything supposed to be going towards your innocence, I read the judge can allow it to go to trial or cannot go to trial. And I read, basically, all the procedures for trial and self-representation.

THE COURT: Okay. Have you ever been in court before?

MR. SAMUEL: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay. This is the first time that you've been charged with any crime?

MR. SAMUEL: Yes, ma'am.

**R. p. 34, line 20 – p. 36, line 8.** (Emphasis added).

Further, Appellant swore that he understood that “the elements of murder are the unlawful killing of another with malice aforethought” and that “malice means a depraved heart that existed just prior to and at the time of the commission of the act.” He further answered affirmatively when asked if he understood that, if he chose to represent himself, the trial judge could not tell him how he should try the case or advise him. **R. p. 36, line 13 – p. 37, line 7.**<sup>5</sup>

When asked if he understood the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, he indicated that he did from reading the book he mentioned earlier. When asked if he had any other source for

---

<sup>5</sup> Unfortunately, many of the trial judge’s questions permitted him to give *pro forma* answers because the trial judge would explain a matter to him and he merely responded “yes, ma’am.” See *State v. Cash*, 309 S.C. 40, 43, 419 S.E.2d 811, 813 (Ct. App. 1992) (listing “whether the exchange between the accused and the court consisted merely of *pro forma* answers to *pro forma* questions,” as one of the factors courts consider in determining whether the accused had a sufficient background to understand the disadvantages of self-representation); *Ex parte Jackson*, 381 S.C. 253, 270, 672 S.E.2d 585, 588 (Ct.App. 2009) (same); cf. *State v. Arthur*, 296 S.C. 495, 498, 374 S.E.2d 291, 293 (1988) (“None of the three questions propounded to Arthur was of the nonleading character essential to a meaningful response. Moreover, they failed to inform Arthur of ‘the essential ingredients of a jury trial which are necessary to understand the significance of the right he was waiving’”).

understanding the rules of evidence, he stated that “basically ...Mr. Grant, he tried to coach me on it a little bit.” **R. p. 37, lines 8-16.** He also stated that he understood that the rules of evidence determine what is admissible at trial; that in representing himself, he was required to follow those rules; “one of the rules of evidence is the rule against hearsay;” that hearsay evidence was statements that were “made outside the trial which are being admitted for the truth asserted;” that there were “many exceptions” to the rule against hearsay; and that “under our rules ... there are certain motions that can be made before, during, and after the trial.” **R. p. 37, line 8 – 38, line 19.**

When asked to name a motion, Appellant stated, “You can put in for a motion for the trial -- it can be a mistrial with a sickness or somebody doing that, they'll reschedule it. And that's -- I think that's all.” He then correctly stated “[m]otion in limine” when asked whether he understood that there were motions to suppress evidence. However, he did not know what a directed verdict motion was until the trial judge explained it to him. **R. p. 38, line 19 - p. 39, line 21.**

Appellant indicated that he understood that he had the right to testify and the right not to testify in his case; that this was guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment; and that his understanding was that “[t]he Fifth Amendment is to keep silent.” He understood that he could be impeached with prior convictions if he testified, but he did not have any prior convictions. Further, he understood that, if he did not testify, the trial judge would instruct jurors that his decision not to testify could not be discussed because that would violate both the United States and South Carolina Constitutions. **R. p. 39, line 23 – p. 42, line 3.**

Appellant was initially unable to list any possible defenses he had to the murder charge, until the trial judge reminded him that he had said that he had one. He then claimed the letters by

his co-defendant exonerated him. He stated that he understood that the trial judge's opinion that he 'would be far better defended by a trained lawyer' than he could defend himself; that she thought that it was "unwise" for him to represent himself; that she was concerned that he was "not sufficiently familiar with the law" to represent himself; and that she "strongly urge[d]" him not to represent himself. However, he still wanted to waive his right to be represented by counsel and represent himself, and he stated that his decision was "entirely voluntary." **R. p. 42, line 4 – p. 44, line 20.**

At this point, Appellant made a second mention of being aided in his *pro se* representation by private counsel:

THE COURT: Do you know anything or anyone that I can have you speak with that might urge you to have a lawyer represent you?

MR. SAMUEL: No, ma'am. I mean, I think -- I mean, **my mama**, basically **paid Mr. Grant a good bit amount of money**. The reason why **he couldn't represent me** is because my family -- **I guess his paralegal is related** [to me], you know, **in some manner. So he had decided to just go over the steps with me day by day**. I go through the trial, **I got back to him. I talk to him, he'll tell me things or he won't** -- he's not going to be in the courtroom, present.

THE COURT: Okay. And you know he's not representing you?

MR. SAMUEL: **I know he's not representing me, but he is coaching me** on --

THE COURT: I got you, but he's not representing you?

MR. SAMUEL: Oh, no, ma'am.

**R. p. 44, line 21 – p. 45, line 12.** (Emphasis added).

Appellant then stated that he understood that the trial judge was going to appoint stand-by counsel, and that he could change his mind about representing himself at trial. Further, he understood her explanation that he had the right to make an opening statement if he wished to

make one, but that he could not testify in that statement. Rather, he could merely “talk about ... what you believe the evidence will or will not show.” He also understood that he would have the right to both offer evidence and to object at trial. **R. p. 45, line 13 – p. 46, line 10.**

Appellant stated that he had reviewed the State’s evidence against him but thought that “it’s not enough evidence.” He added, “That’s why I tried to get to talk to Mr. Sorenson before we even make it this far.” Also, he gave a proper understanding of the theory that “the hand of one is the hand of all.” While he stated that he did not understand why counsel reviewed trial procedures with him because the Assistant Solicitor could not place him at the scene and his co-defendant was pleading guilty that day, he claimed to understand that this was not within counsel’s control. **R. p. 48, line 11 – p. 50, line 4.**

The trial judge stated, “[H]ere’s my problem. You’re bright enough, the constitution says you’re entitled to represent yourself. I don’t want you to represent yourself, but I can’t violate the law.” Appellant’s response to her statement was a somewhat rambling complaint about the length of his pretrial incarceration and a protestation of innocence. The trial judge replied by stating that the complaints that he raised were not the fault of his attorneys and that her experience was that defendants who had been frustrated with counsel’s performance prior to trial often had no complaint about his or her attorney’s performance at trial. **R. p. 50, line 6 – p. 53, line 6.**

The trial judge again hoped that she could persuade him not to appear *pro se*, but she found that he was “bright enough, educated enough” to represent himself, and that he did not have any substance abuse or mental health issue that would interfere with his ability to do so. Likewise, he assured her that he understood the charge that he was facing. **R. p. 53, lines 7-22.**

Appellant then made the following statement:

I know, basically, you what you're saying is that you're putting your neck on the line by you wouldn't want me to disappoint you. That's what's bringing me to this. **My mama paying Carl Grant to come in and educate me**, at the same time, just because he a lawyer, I mean, I went to school, I'm smart. I can catch onto the common sense I won't put you down when we're going to trial. I won't disappoint you, period, even though the decision the jurors make, a decision that you make, I accept all of that, but I know I went down fighting for my innocence, you know, but at that same time I respect you. I respect all the advice you give me. I respect everything you took time to go over with me. I respect the time you took to sit with me today. I respect all of that, but at the same time I won't let you down.

**R. p. 53, line 24 – p. 54, line 13.** (Emphasis added).

The trial judge stated that she was going to tell the State that she was inclined to grant Appellant's motion. However, she wanted to speak with Mr. Grant, so that she could more fully understand Mr. Grant's relationship to the case and what discussions he had with Appellant about the case. **R. p. 54, line 14 – p. 55, line 22.**

After Mr. Grant arrived at court, the trial judge resumed an *in camera ex parte* hearing. **R. p. 61, line 2 – p. 62, line 13.**<sup>6</sup> First, she informed Mr. Grant of Appellant's representations of Mr. Grant's involvement in the case to Appellant's satisfaction. **R. p. 63, line 4 – p. 65, line 9.**

Then, Mr. Grant testified that:

For the record, number one, I have no recollection of ever sharing with Ms. Betty Hickson, his mother, anything pertaining to any rules of evidence or rules in criminal procedure or anything like that. The only discussion that I remember having with Ms. Hickson, and I've had this discussion with her as well as my staff on numerous occasions. The only discussion has been about the legal fee to represent this young man. ... Ms. Hickson has not paid me, not even a dime, as of today's date. ... [W]e have a saying in my office that the big dog does not fight until he's fed. ....

Also, I've not been retained. ... Ms. Hickson[] actually came in my office one day, said she had the legal fee with her on her hip. We were in there, said okay. She said she's going outside to car to get the money, she'd be right back. She

---

<sup>6</sup> Other personnel from Mr. Grant's office were present at the courthouse but they were sequestered. **R. p. 61, line 21 – p. 62, line 10.**

never came back in, and that's been several months ago. I've not offered any assistance to anyone, Judge. I've not even given this young man any kind of copy of the rules of evidence or rules of criminal procedure or offered my assistance in any way. Either you're going to retain me to represent you or you're not. And let me also say for the record, that it is my professional and my strong personal opinion that he has two of the finest public defenders in South Carolina already representing him. Lawyers who are experienced, lawyers who are very competent, lawyers whose ethical standards are to the highest, and those who I know would do a great job. In fact, I spoke with Ms. Hinds outside the courthouse a few weeks ago, and I was telling her that the family was saying they were going to retain me and she indicated that she was representing him. I said, well, with a lawyer like you they certainly don't need me, and I feel that way, because she and, of course, Mr. Mellard are great attorneys.

**R. p. 65, line 20 – p. 67, line 6.**

Based upon his twenty-eight years of experience as a trial attorney, Mr. Grant testified that he would “strongly recommend” that Appellant allow his experienced and knowledgeable attorneys to continue with their representation. Mr. Grant also explained that he had hired an attorney to represent him in a past matter. Further, Mr. Grant testified that he would be unavailable “to provide any assistance to him in any capacity.” He could only have represented Appellant if Appellant’s family had retained him when they originally approached him. He would not represent Appellant now because the trial judge case was ready to try the case and “I certainly have no intention or desire to derail that process so that you all can go forward.” **R. p. 67, line 7 – p. 68, line 9.**

Following Mr. Grant’s testimony Appellant thanked him, “thank you for your information you provided me. I thank you for your advice and everything and I appreciate you addressing that to Ms. Goodstein.” When the trial judge directed Appellant to tell her “what advice and information you are speaking of specifically,” he cryptically replied, “Everything he

said.” When she asked whether he meant “today,” Appellant evasively said, “I’m just saying in general. Everything he said makes a whole lot of sense.” **R. p. 68, lines 12-24.**

Appellant stated that he understood the extent of Mr. Grant’s prior relationship with him, and the trial judge’s explanation that he could not depend on Mr. Grant to be present at trial. **R. p. 69, lines 1-6.** Appellant thereafter stated that he and his mother had spoken to Mr. Grant and that the reason Mr. Grant had testified differently was because a paralegal in Mr. Grant’s office was related to Appellant. Also, “his reasons for not coming out and indicating the same is because his reputation was on the line. .... [H]e already had told me and stated if it came down to him coming in front of a judge in front of the attorneys he was going to state that.” **R. p. 69, line 20 – p. 70, line 19.** Finally, Appellant stated that he understood the type of mistakes he could make by representing himself, but he still wanted to do so. **R. p. 70, lines 22-25.**

The trial judge denied Appellant’s motion after a brief recess. Based upon her earlier colloquy with Appellant, she found that his “educational background ... is very strong,” and that he was “very bright ... [and] extremely articulate.” When she had discussed Appellant’s knowledge of “the rules,” he informed her that his mother had provided him with “the rule book and that the title had been given to her by Carl Grant.” The trial judge further found that Appellant had told her that that Mr. Grant had been coaching him “with regards to the [legal] processes” and that Appellant believed that Mr. Grant would also coach him “with regards to the process of a trial, throughout the trial.” **R. p. 72, line 12 – p. 73, line 4.**

The trial judge explained that she had Mr. Grant attend the hearing and testify “out of concern that whether Carl Grant had undertaken representation of you and whether or not he would be acting as stand-by counsel in some form or fashion if you were to be self-representing

yourself.” She found, however, that Mr. Grant had testified that he did not provide Appellant with a book, that he had not coached Appellant; that he had not had any conversations with Appellant about “the processes and that he ha[d] not led [Appellant] to believe that he would, likewise be doing so throughout the trial.” **R. p. 73, lines 6-17.**<sup>7</sup>

The trial judge concluded her ruling as follows:

THE COURT: Now, I have listened to you, I have listened to Carl Grant. I want you to understand I do not believe what you tell me about your relationship with Mr. Grant in terms of his having coached you and his willingness to coach you during the course of the trial. I simply do not believe that. I have to make a determination and I do not believe what you are telling me is accurate.

That brings me to one of our rules, which is Rule 3.3, which is candor towards the tribunal. It also brings me to one of our cases, which is a case called Gardner verses the State at 351 S.C. 407, 570 S.E.2d 184, and this particular case talks about the ability of an individual to self-represent themselves. One of the elements that the Court has to consider is whether or not the defendant is attempting to delay or manipulate the proceedings. I do not believe that you are trying to delay the proceedings. I am concerned that the proceedings are being manipulated. Further, there is case law around the country, not in South Carolina, that I can find, but around the country, that says that someone that wishes to self-represent themselves is not allowed to disrupt the proceedings.

... I cannot operate without candor. Rule 3.3 places upon attorneys the ethical duty to have candor toward the tribunal. I cannot try a case without candor towards the tribunal. That was an issue that I did not anticipate being presented to me today. I really wanted and sought the information regarding Mr. Grant because I wanted to be -- I wanted to be assured that there wasn't representation there, however, I am very concerned now with regards to your candor. I cannot try a case if the people trying the case are not candid with me.

So when I put together 3.3, ...which requires lawyers to be candid with the court, when I put that together with the case that I mentioned that says you're not allowed to attempt to manipulate the court in your attempts in representation and when I look around the country at the case law regarding the disruption it's not allowed by those wishing to self-represent. When I put those together, I believe that there is authority for me to disallow your self-representation. The reason that I am disallowing your self-representation is because it is impossible for me to

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant tried to interrupt the trial judge at this point in her ruling but she did not allow him to do so. **R. p. 73, lines 18-21.**

[try] a case if I do not have candor from those who are making representations to the court. I cannot do that.

Unfortunately, it has been demonstrated to [me] between this morning and this afternoon that you lack candor with the court. On that basis and the basis of the case law that I have already mentioned I cannot allow you to self-represent. I must have counsel to represent you.

**R. p. 73, line 20 – p. 75, line 19.**

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